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SAVAGE PEACE








PROLOGUE

Armistice Day 1918



We are here to see, in short, that the very foundations of this war are swept away. Those foundations were the private choice of a small coterie of civil rulers and military staffs. Those foundations were the aggression of great Powers upon the small. Those foundations were the power of small bodies of men to wield their will and use mankind as pawns in a game. And nothing less than the emancipation of the world from these things will accomplish peace.


—WOODROW WILSON, JANUARY 1919




 







Somewhere beyond the mist and the misery on that November morning, six men met in a railcar to end a war. News of the truce moved through the trenches on the trembling lips of soldiers waiting for the screams of flying shells to cease before they believed what they were told. Some heard it first from their captains who distributed strips of paper that read: “Cease firing on all fronts. 11/11/11. Gen. John J. Pershing.” Others would never know. They were the unlucky ones killed in the fragile hours before 11 A.M., before the fighting abruptly stopped. The silence, so unfamiliar, was almost as unsettling as the sounds, as if a giant hand suddenly lay across this land of rotting flesh to hush the din of battle. Silence. Prayers. Tears. Then came the roar of cheering and the popping of bonfires piled high with captured ammunition and anything that could burn. The madness was ending, or so it seemed. And fear was giving way to hope.


“One minute we was killing people,” a soldier later said, “and then the world was at peace for the first time in four years. It seemed like five minutes of silence and then one of us said, ‘Why don’t we go home?’”


“I shall never forget the sensation,” wrote an officer who climbed out of the trenches when he saw rockets signaling the cease-fire. Onto the open, unprotected ground, he walked toward the front lines of battle. The sun shining on his vulnerability, he moved tentatively, as if the earth beneath each foot might cave in. First he saw German helmets and caps vaulting into a distant haze and then beyond a ridge he saw German soldiers dancing a universal jig of joy. “We stood in a dazed silence unable to believe that at last the fighting was over.”


It was at once a magnificent and a brutal day. After 1,563 days of war on the Western Front, no one, on the front lines or at home, would forget the moment news of peace entered their lives. Especially moved were those who carried in their hearts and minds the greatest hopes for what the end of the war could mean. In the parlors and factories and fields of their future lives, they would tell the stories of where they were and what they were doing on the day in 1918 when the Armistice came. They would talk of lost friends and of bold dreams, of expectations and of plans for the world they had risked their lives to save. “The nightmare is over,” wrote the African-American leader W. E. B. Du Bois. “The world awakes. The long, horrible years of dreadful night are passed. Behold the sun!”


Sergeant Henry Lincoln Johnson, America’s first soldier to win the Croix de Guerre, France’s Medal of Honor, surely would not forget. His twenty-one wounds still stung with the memory of the battle for which he had won his medal. Sergeant Johnson was in the Vosges Mountains in France on November 11, very near the German border. Low on supplies, short on water and food, and exhausted, the men of Johnson’s regiment, the 369th, were setting the American record for the most consecutive days under fire: 191 in all. Sharing blankets on that brisk morning—one for every four soldiers—they cheered upon hearing of the truce, some filling the gray, sober air with songs. They must have felt they had learned all that the universe could teach them about fighting, about brotherhood, about the will to survive. The 369th was the first black regiment to arrive on the Western Front and now it would soon be the first American division to cross the Rhine River into Germany. “They had achieved the impossible,” wrote one of their commanders. “These men were going home as heroes.”


Two thousand miles northeast of the Vosges Mountains on a vast frontier of tundra and fir in northern Russia, the moment that made the Western world hold its breath came and went unnoticed. Fifteen thousand Allied soldiers, including at least seven thousand Americans, were scattered across hundreds of miles radiating out from the port of Archangel on the Dvina River, twenty-six miles from the White Sea. On the morning of November 11, there was no cheering and there was no relief. Isolated by long delays in receiving mail and blocked from cable communications, the troops in Russia were not told about the Armistice, and even if they had known, there were no orders for the Allied North Russia Expeditionary Force to cease firing. While their compatriots in the west slipped into reveries of life back home and their families laid out plans for joyous homecomings, a contingent of American soldiers of the 339th Infantry was fighting its hardest battle yet. In temperatures hovering at 60 degrees below zero and in shoes that had worn through six weeks before, around the time the snow had begun to fall, they were trying to defend an American outpost two hundred miles from Archangel. They would remember the day for the battle they had fought and for the one hundred soldiers who would die in the four days that the battle lasted. On November 11, Sergeant Silver Parrish, of Bay City, Michigan, wrote in his diary, “We were atacked on our flank front and rear bye about 2500 of the enemy & their Big field Guns. We licked the [Bolsheviks] good & hard but lost 7 killed and 14 wounded.” The long, steady scream of flying shells would continue to split the Arctic stillness for many more months.


 


In Paris, at exactly 11 A.M., guns boomed, bells rang, and American and French flags seemed to fall out of the sky, hanging from balconies, dangling out of windows, and waving from rooftops. Thousands of people shouted “Vive la Paix!” as they swarmed the Place de la Concorde and moved up the Champs-Elysées. On the balcony of the Paris Opera House, a chorus led a crowd of twenty thousand in singing “La Marseillaise.” “The song bursting from that crowd was enough to stir the spirits of the heroic dead,” wrote the American journalist Ray Stannard Baker, who was there in the throng. “Such a thrill comes not once in a hundred years.”


News of the signing of the Armistice had traveled swiftly to America by transatlantic cable, arriving at the State Department at approximately 2:25 that morning. At 2:50 A.M. the government informed the press that the war would end at 6 A.M., Eastern Standard Time, and that the terms of the Armistice would be announced shortly thereafter. As early as 3 A.M. Americans awakened to the sounds of victory rippling through their streets, moving westward with the rising sun. They rolled out of bed to join the delirious throngs, grabbing wooden spoons from cupboards to bang on everything from tin pans to garbage cans, clanging bells as big as cows’ heads, tying copper kettles and dishpans to the bumpers of every kind of vehicle, and moving their feet in rhythm with the chiming of church bells and the unrestrained cheering that only intensified in volume and energy as the day progressed.


The month of November had been unseasonably cold on the East Coast, so cold, in fact, that a mail carrier flying between New York and Washington earlier in the month encountered a blizzard, at seven thousand feet, for nearly forty miles. The snow was so thick, the pilot said, he could not see the wings of his machine and the flight so frigid that the government decided it must provide electrically heated clothing for the pilots of its new Air Mail Service. It had been a harsh autumn nationwide, but for more reasons than the weather. Death lists from the war competed with those from the raging epidemic known as the Spanish flu. In the last week of October, at the height of the second wave of the outbreak, more than five thousand people had died in New York City and three thousand in Philadelphia. The death toll nationwide for that month alone would be nearly twenty thousand. Military posts were especially hard hit. “We have been averaging 100 deaths per day,” wrote a doctor in Surgical Ward No. 16 at Camp Devens, in Massachusetts, where seventeen thousand soldiers and staff had died by the end of October. Although the war always upstaged the flu in news coverage, the flu took a fearful toll on the nation. Even little girls jumped rope to the chant: “I once knew a bird and its name was Enza. I opened a window and in-flu-Enza.”


Rumors of peace, debates over Prohibition and the recent elections, and, of course, baseball were all popular distractions from the anxieties and fears inherent to a season of darkness and death. Babe Ruth helped lead the Boston Red Sox to a World Series victory in October, and Ty Cobb had been the American League’s leading batter for the 1918 season. The Republicans had just recaptured control of both the Senate and the House of Representatives, causing considerable consternation in the White House, where the Democratic president, Woodrow Wilson, believed a unified government was essential to achieve his goal of reconstructing the world. The elections too had boosted the number of states prohibiting the legal sale and consumption of alcohol. Prohibition was now only one state away from becoming the Eighteenth Amendment to the Constitution—cause for some to applaud and others to shudder. After Germany and Austria, said the Anti-Saloon League, alcohol was the enemy—on whose head the forces of temperance heaped the blame for the rising number of labor disturbances; for fuel shortages, because breweries and saloons used more coal than all the nation’s schools and churches combined; and for the scarcity of sugar. “Did Booze ever benefit you?” read one ad. “Did it ever add to the happiness of your family?”


Nothing, however, distracted the people from their woes as much as their hopes for peace. And so it was that on the morning after the election returns, on November 7, Americans had awakened to the news they most wanted to hear: that the Germans had signed the Armistice and by 2 P.M. the war would be over. Although the news was false, paperboys bellowed, “The Germans gave up!” as they peddled Extra editions with gripping dispatches from London and Paris about the Armistice. The nation broke into frantic revelry, only to learn late that night and early the next morning that the war had not yet ended. On November 8, the Washington Post reported, “No one can say now with any certainty when the Armistice will be signed or when the fighting will stop.” Three days later, an anxious populace awakened to the same news—and again believed it. This time it was real.


November 11 was a mild, springlike day in most of the United States—so unusual that chilly autumn. Perhaps the millions of people celebrating the Armistice, their souls aflame with the passions of victory and hope, had the power nearly to change the season, the way an earthquake can reverse the flow of a river. From sunup to sunup, they opened windows and unfurled flags, stood on rooftops tossing the shredded pages of telephone books, built bonfires with anything made of wood that could be easily detached, and waded through ankle-deep confetti, waving newspapers with two-inch headlines that read:


“ARMISTICE SIGNED: THE GREATEST DAY IN THE


HISTORY OF NATIONS HAS DAWNED”


Stunts and lunacy were abundant. In New Jersey, a soldier on leave climbed a five-story building in Jersey City and at the top of a flagpole on the roof, 125 feet from the ground, he lost his grip and fell to the street, landing, unharmed and still cheering, on the cloth top of an automobile moving slowly through the crowd. In Chicago, funeral corteges of black hearses paid a tribute to war’s end, one with a band marching next to it playing Chopin’s “Funeral March.” In San Diego sailors sprinkled countless containers of talcum powder on the crowds, while ships rang their bells and factories tied their whistles open.


The ear-splitting, horn-blowing, flag-waving mayhem spurred immediate—and premature—repeals of health regulations that, because of the flu, had prohibited public gatherings in churches, schools, theaters, and saloons since late September. Although the danger had hardly passed and the end of the war would enable a resurgence, the illusion that the nation’s two biggest killers, war and flu, were now dead ruled the day. Doors opened. Churches filled as quickly as bars. Streets throbbed with the beat of a public heart that had been broken and mended in turns, creating a mentality of victory and defeat, of heroes and enemies, of high aspirations for all that democracy could mean. They carried the flags and sang the songs, each step in rhythm with every patriotic tune ever written, expecting nothing less than heaven.


 


The sun rose at 6:47 A.M. in Washington, D.C., on November 11, where President Woodrow Wilson was informed of the Armistice at breakfast, shortly after seven. He immediately gave orders for all government employees to take the day off, and, with a pencil, he wrote his announcement to the nation, to be sent to the press: “My fellow countrymen. The armistice was signed this morning. Everything for which America fought has been accomplished. It will now be our fortunate duty to assist by example, by sober, friendly counsel and by material aid in the establishment of just democracy throughout the world.”


Six hours later, the president stood in the House of Representatives before both houses of Congress, the cabinet, the diplomatic corps, and the U.S. Supreme Court. It was there, nineteen months before, that Wilson had asked the nation to go to war. Looking out at the hastily convened session with the solemnity of a warrior beginning a battle rather than ending one, he announced that the aims and hopes of the enemies of militarism had been achieved. “Armed imperialism” he said, “is at an end.” And then he slowly read the thirty-four terms of the Armistice. From the second stipulation onward the grand chamber, where applause was strictly forbidden while Congress was in session, nearly shook from the furor of clapping hands, standing exultations, and screeching cheers. At precisely 1:21 P.M., Wilson declared the official end of the war, barely completing the seven words “The war thus comes to an end” before the tumult of victory cut him off.


That evening, in a city wild with joy, President and Mrs. Wilson rode in an open auto up and down Pennsylvania Avenue through crowds so dense that the Secret Service could barely force a space for the car and so immersed in revelry that only on the couple’s return trip, amid the flickering light of bonfires, did the crowd even notice the presence of their president. When they did, they brought the car to a standstill long enough for a soldier carrying an American flag to force his way to the back of the car and, reaching forward, to thrust the large flag above Wilson’s head. Apparently unalarmed, the president stood up and saluted the soldier. Then for the next two blocks he continued to stand, waving his own small flag and bowing to the pulsing crowds.


Despite the delirium and the pomp, Wilson’s November 11 was no less consumed with the sober questions that would shape the peace. Would he, the president of the United States, dare to travel to Europe for the peace conference, although no U.S. president had ever left the country while in office? The people of Europe demanded that he come—this man who seemed to be the voice of their own aspirations. Europe’s ruling class, however, which scoffed at Wilson’s League of Nations and his notion of permanent peace, preferred that he stay home. But if he chose not to go, what would the consequences be? Who could fight as well as he against the greed, distrust, and fear that could rise up and set the stage for new wars? And if he chose to go, what would it mean to leave his nation during the transition from war to peace, sure to be an unstable, disquieting time?


Perhaps the biggest question of all was whether Wilson could fulfill his promise to the people of his own nation who had believed his pledge in 1916 of keeping America out of the war and who now trusted his promise of an enduring peace based on justice, equality, and respect for the common man, not on imperialistic self-interest. Was it possible that this man who seemed unafraid to dream of a better world could bring the masses of humanity to share that dream?


“Wilson has yet to prove his greatness,” Ray Stannard Baker wrote in his diary in Paris that November. “The fate of a drama lies in its last act, and Wilson is now coming to that. Can he dominate the seething mass of suspicion and disbelief? And when it comes to the crucial point, can we Americans trust ourselves? Do we really believe what Wilson preaches? Are we willing to make real sacrifices and take on responsibilities to bring about the new heaven and the new earth?”


 


On Armistice Day, Theodore Roosevelt checked into a New York City hospital with severe sciatica; Samuel Gompers, the president of the American Federation of Labor, was in Washington for the funeral of his daughter, a victim of the flu; John Edgar Hoover, a young lawyer in the Department of Justice, had planned to dine with the daughter of a prominent Washington attorney, but she did not keep the date; A. Mitchell Palmer, the War Department’s alien property custodian, responsible for confiscating, managing, and sometimes selling assets owned by Germans in America, announced the upcoming sale of property valued at approximately $200 million, including $200,000 worth of tea and 346 pearls, three rubies, and two emeralds valued at $2.25 million; Douglas Fairbanks, the silent film star who had just raised $7 million in Liberty Bonds for the war effort, left the nation’s capital on a coast-to-coast tour to raise $25 million more. And suffragist Alice Paul was quoted in newspapers about the upcoming battle in the Senate: “Before these hundred days remaining in this Congress have gone, the suffrage amendment shall have passed!”


The poet and journalist Carl Sandburg was writing news stories out of Stockholm, Sweden, where he had been interviewing a Russian source who worked for the Bolshevik leader V. I. Lenin. British aviator Captain John Alcock was a prisoner of war in Turkey beginning his thirteenth month in captivity and working on his plan to fly an airplane nonstop across the Atlantic once he was freed. And the popular American writer who used the pseudonym David Grayson was standing in the throng at the Opera House in Paris, taking notes for one of his next books.


In celebration of the Armistice, Albert Einstein, a young German physicist teaching in Berlin, wrote a joyful letter to his sister: “The great event has taken place!…That I could live to see this!” At the same time in London, an international committee of astronomers and physicists announced its ambitious plan to send two expeditions, one to South America and one to Africa, to test Einstein’s general theory of relativity and to demonstrate through science the value of global cooperation. Weather permitting, they would observe an unusually long total eclipse of the sun on May 29 to determine whether the sun’s gravity could bend the light of the stars, as Einstein’s theories predicted. With war’s end, scientists could now focus their attention on the revolutionary concepts that Einstein’s papers, smuggled out of Germany across the battlefields of Europe to England, had expressed.


For Roger Baldwin, who had protested the war and refused to fight, the day was memorable for the obvious relief of war’s end, and for more. A firm believer that physical force was not a method for achieving any goal—whether or not the battle was for a worthy cause—Baldwin, a Harvard graduate and an outspoken advocate of free speech, was serving a one-year sentence for violating the Selective Service Act. This was his thirty-second day in the Tombs which, true to its name, was New York City’s dark, dungeon-like jailhouse. And on this day, two U.S. marshals escorted him out of the Tombs to a better facility in Newark, New Jersey, where he would remain for the rest of his sentence.


Baldwin was one of thousands of Americans in jail in November of 1918 for violating the 1917 Selective Service Act or for violating the Espionage Act of 1917 or its amended 1918 version, known also as the Sedition Act, which condemned dissenting voices that allegedly threatened the security of the nation at war. In October one man had been sentenced to six months in the workhouse for saying he preferred Germany’s kaiser to President Wilson. Another was sentenced to ten years in prison for delivering speeches in which he called conscription unconstitutional. Yet another received a twenty-year sentence and a fine of $10,000 for telling a Liberty Bond salesman that not only did he not want to buy any bonds but he also hoped the “government would go to hell.”


At the Tombs that day, Baldwin left behind several such convicts, including a twenty-one-year-old Russian girl, Mollie Steimer, recently sentenced to fifteen years in prison for violating the Sedition Act by distributing leaflets that opposed American intervention in Russia. Outspoken about her preference for prison over surrender of her beliefs, Steimer had been at the Tombs since late August, when she was arrested. This “slip of a girl,” as Emma Goldman would later call her, was her own field of force, despite her tiny, unobtrusive stature and her young age. Stirring up heated debates about free speech, about the meaning of the espionage and sedition laws, and about the harshness of prison sentences, Steimer agitated government men like J. Edgar Hoover, for whom she would soon become a fixation.


From her jail cell, Steimer may have heard the excited multitudes on the streets of New York and the loud clanging and singing in celebration of the Armistice, or she may have learned of the Armistice from Harry Weinberger, her lawyer, who visited the Tombs upon hearing of his own great victory: that the U.S. Supreme Court had granted Steimer’s bail and that of her co-defendants, three Russian immigrants given twenty-year sentences also because of the allegedly seditious leaflets. At their trial, Weinberger had described his young clients as “liberty-loving” with a dream of a better life for their people. To be pro-Russian, Weinberger had argued, was not to be pro-German. And to protest the U.S. invasion of a nation struggling for its own new day in a revolution that the defendants viewed as progress for their homeland was not a violation of a law enacted for the purposes of protecting the United States during a war with Germany. How could pro-Russian leaflets fluttering onto Broadway from the seventh-floor restroom window of the shirtwaist factory where Steimer worked profoundly damage the war effort against Germany? “Sad is the day when America becomes afraid of mere words that are spoken or printed,” Weinberger wrote.


Now, with the news of the Armistice, Weinberger knew that his argument for bail was stronger than ever. Without a war, there was no security-related reason to continue the incarceration of Steimer and the three young men. After all, they had been convicted and held without bail on the premise that they were endangering the nation while it was at war with Germany. Now, with the war over, Weinberger planned to push again for their release. But the Supreme Court saved him the trouble. While the justices were sitting in Congress listening to their president define the terms of the Armistice, Weinberger received a letter from a Supreme Court clerk saying that the High Court had approved bail for his young clients. Filled with renewed hope that the convictions might be overturned, Weinberger immediately began the daunting task of raising bail funds, $40,000 in all.


At the Tombs that day, male prisoners were taken out of their cells into the prison yard and told to rejoice. Steimer remained in her cell, with its walls covered in newspaper clippings about people she admired, such as Eugene Debs and John Reed. “Peace has come,” she said to her cell mate, Agnes Smedley, who was serving time for disseminating birth control information, “but not for us. Our struggle will be all the more bitter now.”


 


In the woods outside a small town in northern Alabama, a black man died on Armistice Day, at the end of a rope hanging from a tree. His name was William Byrd, and late on the eve of the Armistice a mob of at least one hundred men had dragged him out of his jail cell, where that same night police had incarcerated him for allegedly killing a police officer. No one knew exactly how old he was but those who watched him die said he must have been young, as he was so very strong or perhaps he was very determined to live or both. Whatever the reason, it took the man “longer than most,” they said, to die. In fact, he died around the time that the State Department received its momentous cable from Europe announcing the Armistice.


For his reported crime of “creating a disturbance in the lower section” of the town, Byrd was the fifty-first black man on record to be lynched that year—in addition to three black women. On the night of the 11th, the mob found yet another man they suspected of shooting the policeman and they hanged him too, though not from the same tree. Across the nation, there would be two more black women and eight more black men lynched before the year ended, bringing the total to sixty-four. In 1917, the tally had been forty-four, and in 1919, there would be many more. For black Americans, the weeping would not end on November 11.


Two hundred thousand African-American men had heeded Wilson’s passionate call to join the crusade in Europe to make the world safe for democracy. Of those, 42,000 fought on the battlefields of France. “You have won the greatest battle in History and saved the most sacred cause, the liberty of the world,” wrote Marshal Ferdinand Foch, the commander-in-chief of the Allied armies, in a letter to the all-black 369th Infantry. “Be proud of it. With immortal glory you have adorned your flags. Posterity will be indebted to you with gratitude.” African-Americans who stayed home led a different campaign during the war years. They wanted Wilson to make their own country safe for democracy, and for African-Americans. They wanted their president to include America’s black citizens in the dreams he so eloquently expressed.


And so on the “11/11/11” cease-fire, America’s black leaders worked on their strategies for using the upcoming peace conference to bring worldwide attention to the acute race crisis in Wilson’s own nation. W. E. B. Du Bois, the founder and president of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People and editor of The Crisis magazine, attended an NAACP board meeting that day at which he read portions of his “Memorandum on the Future of Africa,” discussed his plan for a Pan-African Congress in Paris, and supported a resolution to send twenty-five black representatives to the Paris Peace Conference.


William Monroe Trotter, the founder and editor of The Guardian newspaper in Boston, and the head of the National Equal Rights League, also announced a plan that day for his National Race Congress to convene in early December in Washington, D.C. This congress would select its own black delegation to promote a race agenda at the peace conference, which would include well-known African-Americans such as the exceptional businesswoman Madam C. J. Walker.


Trotter rarely missed a step in his quest to expose the hypocrisies that so impeded the progress and peace of his race. Loudly had he protested racist dramas on the Boston stage, the opening of the 1915 film The Birth of a Nation, racist policies in the offices of the Wilson administration, and nationwide indifference to the pandemic of lynching. In September of 1918, he had lost his wife, who was also his co-editor, to the flu. But, by the day of the Armistice, using work as an antidote to his grief, Trotter was focused on squaring Wilson’s actions with his promises and words. For now, this meant demanding that the president appoint a black man to the American peace delegation, and that Wilson add a Fifteenth Point to his acclaimed Fourteen Points: “The elimination of civil, political, and judicial distinctions based on race or color in all nations for the new era of freedom everywhere.”


The upcoming peace conference, where Wilson hoped to see the world reconfigured along the lines of global democracy, seemed an obvious venue for demands of racial justice and equality. Was this not the greatest opportunity to expose and overcome the injustices still oppressing his race? In his announcement on Armistice Day, Trotter wrote: “The earth and the heavens resound with the petitions of all races for freedom and democracy with the close of the World War. Every proscribed race and class is preparing to have its relief included in the world adjustment.”


 


Thirty-five miles northwest of Boston, on the afternoon of November 11, the merchants and residents of Ayer, Massachusetts, were preparing for what they knew the Armistice meant for them: a flood of soldiers engulfing their streets and stores, taverns and trolleys. More than 100,000 soldiers had been trained at Camp Devens, in the southwest corner of Ayer, and soon many more returning soldiers—the ones from New England, at least—would reenter America through that same camp. When the flow would begin and just how many there would be was not yet clear. To demobilize 300,000 soldiers each month was the government’s hope at the moment, beginning with the sick and wounded. For Ayer now, its stores must be abundantly stocked; its boarding houses and hotels must prepare rooms for soldiers’ families; and its police force must be bolstered, especially for traffic control. A series of patriotic parades must be planned, and health alerts must be posted. There was, after all, the danger of the flu traveling home with the soldiers, adding to Camp Devens’s already huge toll of flu casualties. The mass of humanity would overrun Ayer, possibly even spilling into the outlying areas surrounding the ponds: Squannacook Pond, Robbins Pond, Long Pond, and Sandy Pond, the biggest of all.


Sandy Pond, only two and a half miles from Ayer, was where the well-heeled in the region owned summer homes. On Armistice Day, one of the few permanent residents, if not the only one, Mabel Emeline Puffer, was tending to the tasks of preparing her cottage for winter. She was assisted by her handyman, Arthur Garfield Hazzard, who had worked for the Puffer family for more than fifteen years. The shades on Puffer’s Sandy Pond home were up. As her neighbors during the warmer months well knew, this meant that the stately, soft-spoken, white heiress was having tea with her African-American hired hand. What they spoke about on this particular day is not known but their conversation likely drifted some distance from such topics as the impact of returning soldiers on their town and the possibility that some soldiers might take the trolley out to view the beauty of their placid Sandy Pond. Their thoughts and feelings were not necessarily centered on the end of the war and what it might mean for the world outside Sandy Pond, for Americans of African descent, for hopeful returning soldiers of all races, for the U.S. president, and for all who dreamed of a just world. But for the news surrounding them on that day, their world was a tiny one, focused on each other and their own plans for a life together.










PART I

Winter: Jubilation and Hope



I learned by experience that democracy lives on the exercise and functioning of democracy. As a child learns and grows by doing, a people learn democracy by acting in democratic ways. I knew from the history of other countries that even the best democratic constitutions did not prevent dictatorships unless the people were trained in democracy and held themselves eternally vigilant and ready to oppose all infringements on liberty.


—HARRY WEINBERGER, MARCH 1919





We have learned during the war that the Constitution is a very elastic instrument and that the Federal Government can do anything that it wants to do which it considers for the good of the country. That it can say how much sugar we may put into our coffee, how much coal we may put on our fires, when we must go to bed and when we must get up. Then it is absurd to think if the Federal Government really wanted to put a stop to the shooting and hanging and burning alive of citizens of the United States by mobs that it could not find sufficient authority in the Constitution to do it.


—JAMES WELDON JOHNSON, DECEMBER 1918













CHAPTER 1

Gods of War and Peace





On December 4, 1918, three weeks after the Armistice, Woodrow Wilson boarded the USS George Washington bound for the Paris Peace Conference with the grand mission of cutting through the darkness at the center of the universe to release a light of peace. That morning, President Wilson departed Washington on a train bound for Hoboken, New Jersey, where the ship was docked and where more than a thousand men and women would join him for the voyage. The president’s train, drawn by a flag-decked locomotive, was a special one, running as a second section of the regular Pennsylvania Railroad express between Washington and New York City and consisting of seven Pullman cars and two baggage coaches. The president and first lady traveled in the middle car, which was called the Ideal. In two other cars were the French and Italian ambassadors, the Belgian minister, and members of their families, traveling to France as guests by invitation of the president. Among others were the American ambassador to England and his wife; the president’s private secretary, Joseph P. Tumulty; Mrs. Wilson’s private secretary; the secretary of state and his wife; the president’s private physician; a member of the American Peace Mission, Henry White; Secretary of War Newton D. Baker; and a scattering of White House staffers, Secret Service men, agents of the army and naval intelligence services, and State Department attachés. With the exception of Baker and Tumulty, all would accompany Wilson on his transatlantic voyage.


The special train arrived at the Hoboken pier at 7:20 A.M. on the shoreline tracks normally used for freight cars, allowing Wilson’s middle car to pull right up to the entrance to Pier 4. Thousands of soldiers, policemen, and agents of military intelligence and the Secret Service surrounded the train as it stopped. A band played the national anthem. The president left the train, walked to the pier entrance, which was draped with palms and flags, took an elevator to the upper level, where a breeze fluttered hundreds of Allied banners, and then boarded the ship.


Reporters and photographers hovered nearby as did 325 Army Transport girls in their freshly pressed khakis. Ferryboats, tugs, and other small craft, though kept at a distance, moved onto the Hudson River as close to the spectacle as possible. Across the river in Manhattan at least ten thousand New Yorkers stood shoulder to shoulder, chests to backs, to bid farewell to the first president in U.S. history to travel beyond the shores of North America while in office. And on Staten Island, five hundred children waited, with restless anticipation, for the moment when the ship passed the Statue of Liberty, their cue for hoisting one thousand tiny flags into the air, waving them vigorously like wings in a flock of red, white, and blue birds.


Two by two, the passengers from the special train followed Wilson and boarded the 699-foot-long George Washington, a former German luxury liner selected to transport the president to France by the assistant secretary of the navy, Franklin Delano Roosevelt. They were followed by dozens more, including members of the American Peace Commission; experts in economics, cartography, the Balkans, Russia, Turkey, and Alsace-Lorraine; assistants to the experts; War Department personnel, such as the head of the Military Intelligence Division, Brigadier General Marlborough Churchill; George Creel, chairman of the Committee on Public Information; Red Cross nurses; and YMCA workers. Already on board were the crew of seventy-five officers and 1,049 men of the navy and Marine Corps, the chef of New York’s Hotel Biltmore and his staff, six thousand sacks of mail, 3,500 tons of cargo, and hundreds of Christmas parcels for the soldiers still in France.


At 10:15 A.M. the George Washington steamed out of her berth, escorted down the harbor by five destroyers, joined at Staten Island by a dozen more and led by the super-dreadnought USS Pennsylvania. Zeppelins circled overhead and two army planes performed aerial feats, looping and swooping, while thousands of spectators gasped and cheered. As the destroyers thundered out the presidential salute of twenty-one guns and small craft blew continuous blasts of whistles and toots, the president and Mrs. Wilson stood on the bridge of their ship and waved. And, as the ship slowly moved out of the harbor, it passed within fifty yards of another transport whose decks were crowded with returning soldiers waving and cheering. On its ten-day voyage, Wilson’s ark of experts would take the southern route through the Azores, avoiding storms further north. “I anticipate no trouble,” the ship’s commander told the press that day, “with the faintly possible exception of a stray floating mine which might be encountered these days anywhere in the Atlantic lanes.”


The unprecedented voyage of the president across the Atlantic Ocean to Europe was risky indeed, but for more reasons than weather and mines. According to the politicians who disagreed with his decision to go—both Democrats and Republicans—Wilson was risking his presidency and jeopardizing the success of the peace talks. Some claimed that by attending the conference and sitting down with foreign secretaries and prime ministers to negotiate, he would diminish what was now a messianic image worldwide. Instead of the arbiter of the future of humankind, he would be just another negotiator. Distance and aloofness enhanced his power, they said.


On the morning of the departure, former president Teddy Roosevelt—Wilson’s longtime nemesis—told the press from his hospital bed in New York, “President Wilson has not given the slightest explanation for his trip abroad.” Other Republicans accused Wilson of betrayal for leaving the country and labeled him “un-American.” How, they asked, could the president do his job if he were on the other side of the Atlantic? How could he make civil appointments, meet privately with legislators, speak to citizen groups, pardon offenders, or receive ambassadors, if he was occupying an office in Paris? How could he listen to the pulse of the nation from such a distance? And, they said, if he were compelled by necessity or worry to return home, it would take him nearly two weeks.


One Republican senator, Lawrence Sherman from Illinois, went so far as to introduce a resolution on December 3 calling upon the Senate to declare Wilson “out of office” if he dared to leave the country, which, of course, he was scheduled to do the next morning. In the hope of stripping the president of his power to perform the duties of his office while abroad, the senator claimed that the president’s absence was a “palpable violation” of the Constitution. Wilson’s absence when Congress was in session and when domestic conditions were insecure, as they were then in the months following the war, was an act of “legislative and executive sabotage against the Government,” Sherman said. “The President of the United States is not its President in France; he is an alien there, a mere citizen of this Republic, shorn of all his sovereign powers.”


Still others attacked Wilson’s daring belief that his new League of Nations could be the “indispensable instrumentality” of world peace and justice and that it was an absolutely necessary component of the peace treaty. They feared his focus on a “peace without victory,” as Wilson had said. Instead they favored a crushing victory, which meant harsh terms for Germany and which would reinvigorate the old order of military rivalries that had led to the Great War.


Republican senator Henry Cabot Lodge from Massachusetts was resolute in his own view that Wilson’s vision of peace not only misrepresented the people of the United States but also endangered a speedy, effective peace. Lodge advocated the harshest possible terms for Germany. “The first and controlling purpose of the peace must be to put Germany in such a position that it will be physically impossible for her to break out again upon other nations with a war for world conquest,” he wrote in a memo to Henry White, the only Republican in Wilson’s peace mission. To Lodge, crippling Germany was the only way to prevent future wars.


Lodge was so eager for his point of view to be heard in Paris that the day before the voyage, he visited White while the diplomat was packing for the trip and expressed his concerns. Then a few hours before White boarded the special presidential train to Hoboken, Lodge delivered to him a nine-page memorandum outlining his views—and undermining his president. He asked White to secretly show the memo to French premier Georges Clemenceau and other European statesmen so that they would know, Lodge said, that Wilson’s visions were not backed by the majority of Americans.


But none of this would deter Wilson. His potent purpose blinded him to the risks of going to France and blocked out the shouting naysayers. He was determined to create a new world order, one no longer based on force and fear, jealousy and self-interest, and the endless antagonisms threatening to erupt into wars. These were conflicts endemic to a system of powerful nations vying for more power, overpowering smaller nations in the quest for hegemony. Wilson’s world would be based on cooperation through what he described as a “single overwhelming, powerful group of nations who shall be the trustee of the peace of the world.” Nothing of this magnitude had ever been attempted before: a fantastic plan for world peace in the aftermath of an equally unparalleled war. If such a war could occur, why shouldn’t there be a peace to prevent such a war from ever occurring again?


At sixty-three, in delicate health, Wilson, who had never lost an election, went to Paris because he believed he must personally present—and protect—his plan for world peace. He may have believed what he promoted: that nations, small and large, had a right to determine their own governments and policies; and that, if given a chance, the spirit of brotherhood could be just as powerful as military might, capable of mending a broken world and achieving a permanent peace. “To conquer with arms is to make only a temporary conquest,” Wilson once said. “To conquer the world by earning its esteem is to make permanent conquest.” Wilson also said that he felt responsible for the 110,051 American soldiers who had died in the war. Two days before his departure to France, he told Congress: “It is now my duty to play my full part in making good what they offered their life’s blood to obtain.”


In a groping world anxious to begin anew, Wilson’s enthusiastic supporters far outnumbered his critics at this point simply because they wanted to believe what he said. They wanted to know that their sacrifices in wartime would result in a better world, that Wilson was indeed the alchemist of the world, capable of turning lead into gold. In France, they would hail him as “the Champion of the Rights of Man”; in Rome, the “God of Peace”; and in Milan “the Moses from Across the Atlantic” and the “Savior of Humanity.” In Paris, where two million people would greet him, he was “Wilson the Just.” The editor of the London Daily News wrote, “I know how grave things are, but I rely on the stiff jaw of one great man.”


Early in the morning of December 4, on the ferry from Manhattan to Hoboken, a young man on Wilson’s France-bound staff started up a conversation with a sweatshop worker. How many hours do you work? the staffer asked. The worker told him, “Fourteen.” And then the worker said, “Do you see that boat?” pointing to the grand transport docked across the river in the Hoboken port. “There’s a man aboard her [who] is going to Europe to change all that.”


“For a brief interval, Wilson alone stood for mankind,” H. G. Wells would later write.









CHAPTER 2

Spies Are Everywhere





Perhaps the most common myth about war is that it ends when the textbooks say it does, when the cease-fires begin and the documents are signed. Ostensibly, by the time the George Washington left New York harbor, the European war had ended and the American president was embarking on his dramatic experiment to end all wars. But a world accustomed to conflict cannot with a mere pen stroke shut down the machinery of war or change the mentality of measuring the world in Manichaean terms of good and evil.


In Europe, in the weeks after the Armistice, bombs exploded in train stations; railways were often too unsafe for Allied troops to use; local skirmishes abounded; two hundred prisoners of war were found dead at a Belgian rail station; and military intelligence officers reported a plague of distrust regarding the Armistice, with troops believing it to be a German ruse to demobilize the Allies. In northern Russia, American soldiers continued to fight in icy swamps and snowfields while influenza and pneumonia swept through the outposts. And in America, “the shadow war” was far from over. This was the war behind the war, in which a vast network of secret agents spied on American civilians in the name of national security, reporting on the private lives of men and women who behaved in a way that was thought to threaten America’s ability to win the war.


In the days immediately following the Armistice, the U.S. government, most specifically the Justice Department, made it clear to every domestic spy, whether paid or volunteer, that the job of securing the nation against Prussian deceptions wasn’t over. There would be no war’s-end relaxation for those who protected the nation at home. Now the task was to stop the propagandists who favored leniency for Germany at the peace table and to keep a “vigilant watch over anarchists, plotters and aliens,” as the Justice Department told the Washington Post on Armistice Day. Seth Wheeler, Jr., a volunteer spy in Albany, New York, told his local paper on November 18, “I’m as busy in my patriotic work as at any time since assuming the post.”


Espionage was hardly new to America. By 1917, when America entered the war, the private investigation business was thriving, with thousands of agents at more than three hundred firms, such as Pinkerton’s, and in the intelligence departments of numerous corporations. What happened to domestic intelligence during the war, however, was far more extensive: it was, in fact, revolutionary.


By the time of the signing of the Armistice, a massive, highly organized intelligence community had evolved in the United States, composed of agents from the Office of Naval Intelligence, the army’s Military Intelligence Division (typically referred to as the MID), the Justice Department’s Bureau of Investigation (the BI), the Treasury Department’s Secret Service, the U.S. Postal Service, and other agencies, including the U.S. Railroad Administration and the U.S. Food Administration. In addition, police departments in big cities had their own intelligence forces that coordinated with the army’s MID. Even the YMCA had a battalion of spies.


The largest of all such groups was the MID, whose manpower was far greater than the navy’s intelligence force or the Secret Service. The MID was even larger, in 1917 and 1918, than the Bureau of Investigation, and by the end of the war it had become the main clearinghouse for other agencies’ reports on civilians. The MID also worked with the State Department on the sensitive work of screening passports. Modeled after the British counterespionage system, it named its branches MI1 through MI8. Domestic spies worked out of MI4.


Even more vast in numbers, however, than any of the federal intelligence staffs was a mammoth web of patriotic organizations enlisting thousands of volunteer spies, all of whom reported their findings to Naval Intelligence, the MID, or the Bureau of Investigation. As one historian later wrote, by November of 1918, “the U.S. had fielded a corps of sleuths larger than any country had done in all of history.” Among them were the Liberty League, the American Defense Society, the Home Defense League, the National Security League, the Anti–Yellow Dog League, the All-Allied Anti-German League, the Knights of Liberty, the Boy Spies of America, the American Anti-Anarchy Association, and the Sedition Slammers. The most powerful was the American Protective League, or APL, a clandestine “club” of volunteers that was a major force behind the shadow war.


The APL began in the early spring of 1917 in Chicago, where the large German population was a matter of grave concern to advertising executive A.M. Briggs, who volunteered to help the regional office of the Justice Department investigate leads on German agents. President Wilson had just severed relations with Germany, war was imminent, and the Justice Department had only fifteen agents to cover all of Illinois, Wisconsin, and Minnesota. It also had no motor cars. Briggs first offered himself and several of his friends as drivers, chauffeuring the small squadron of federal agents. Then he organized a group of wealthy men to buy several dozen motor cars for the Justice Department. Finally, he went to Washington to seek permission to go one step further: to launch a covert volunteer force headquartered in the People’s Gas Building in Chicago. Approval came swiftly. And after war was declared, the APL became an unofficial branch of the federal government whose agents routinely sent reports to the Justice Department, the MID, and Naval Intelligence. Soon it would move its headquarters to a four-story building on I Street in Washington.


In its manual, the APL described itself as “the largest company of detectives the world ever saw” and “the mysterious power behind our Government.” Its letterhead carried the banner headline, “Organized with the Approval and Operating under the Direction of the United States Department of Justice, Bureau of Investigation.” The Justice Department, however, never dared to boast publicly about its volunteer branches. Still, both the BI and the MID benefited hugely, not only by expanding their manpower but also by extending legal capabilities, sometimes using Leaguers for their dirty work. In one case in New Jersey, for example, an APL member was acquainted with the Justice Department’s main suspect and while at the suspect’s home pocketed a much needed document for evidence in an upcoming trial. Although judges could not allow evidence seized illegally by a federal official to be used in court, they could, as in this case, use evidence confiscated by a civilian. In another case, in Illinois, the MID called in APL members to obtain confessions from twenty-one black soldiers accused of assaulting a white woman. Fifteen confessed and were court-martialed.


Although the Justice Department did not authorize the volunteers to make arrests or carry weapons, some local police departments, welcoming the unpaid backup, did. Also, Leaguers, as they were called, carried badges, which looked official and proclaimed membership in the Secret Service. This didn’t exactly please the secretary of the treasury, who headed up the Secret Service, and who worried about how to control abuses and zealotry in such a vast volunteer force. Indeed, there was no central or official membership list. And there were plenty of instances of Leaguers overlapping efforts or stepping clumsily where they shouldn’t. Two Leaguers might hide a taping device independently in different parts of the same person’s house or even the wrong house. In one case, a New York member planted a dictograph in a female suspect’s apartment and another Leaguer’s amorous adventures with the suspect, not knowing she was a suspect, were recorded, thus making him a suspect. He later found a dictograph in his own apartment, placed by a fellow Leaguer. After all, anyone associating with a suspect became a suspect, both being potential enemies of the government.


“SPIES ARE EVERYWHERE,” a New York Tribune headline read in the spring of 1917, referring to German spies. But it could easily also have described the corps of American spies organizing to counteract such a threat. Indeed, most factories and public utilities nationwide employed one or more APL members to identify workers the government considered troublemakers. Posing as anarchists or socialists at labor meetings, Leaguers sometimes worked as provocateurs to entrap labor activists. At theaters, the first performance of a production brought in Leaguers like fans seeking autographs, but instead they were asking for every male actor’s draft card. If there was a problem, they would remove the suspect and escort him to the local police, despite the scheduled play or concert.


By the autumn of 1918, there were at least 300,000 APL spies hidden in the folds of American society, watching, trailing, and taping their bosses, colleagues, employees, neighbors, even the local butcher or their children’s schoolteachers. “It is my plan to enroll the responsible heads of the most important banks, trust companies, steamship lines and stock exchange houses, together with the large insurance companies and real estate concerns,” wrote a New York banker in charge of organizing the Manhattan branch of the APL.


Riding a tidal wave of intolerance, Leaguers listened for the telltale whispers of a treacherous enemy force that could be conspiring to destroy America. No matter where they were—amusement parks, theaters, saloons, private parties—they stopped every man of draft age and demanded to see his registration card. If he could not produce it, they called the local police to have him arrested, or, flashing their badges, they demanded the civilian come with them to be interrogated. Even a day at the beach could be disrupted by an APL slacker raid, in search of draft dodgers. One August night in 1918 at 10 P.M., at least seventy-five Leaguers stood at the end of each of four piers in Atlantic City, New Jersey. Thousands of men, women, and children were told they could not leave until the men showed their registration cards. The searches continued until 7 A.M. In the end, seven hundred men were apprehended, of which sixty were slackers—draft dodgers.


The initial purpose of this war behind the war was to stamp out perceived threats to the security of a nation at war—in other words to find and destroy German spy rings, to crush German businessmen sending funds to their homeland, and to identify German sympathizers. The 1910 census listed 8,282,618 Americans who had been born in Germany or who had at least one German-born parent. The government was thus confronted with an unprecedented and alarming challenge: how to detect the enemies at home. How many German citizens were acting as agents? How many were truly loyal to the American flag? How should the government define a threat? Who should be targeted? In a war that was unpopular on the day Congress declared it, critics of government policy became immediate targets and were labeled as unpatriotic, threats to national security, and worse still, potential German allies. But what indeed constituted a threat?


On the day after the declaration of war against Germany, President Wilson vaguely answered that question when he ordered all government agencies to authorize supervisors to dismiss employees for any “disloyal talk.” Wilson knew about the APL and even told his attorney general that he believed such a volunteer force could be dangerous. But he did not try to stop it, because the government needed the manpower. Further, he bestowed censorship and propaganda powers on the new Committee on Public Information, which under the leadership of former journalist George Creel established propaganda as a powerful tool of the U.S. government for snuffing out criticism and critics—a tool the government would continue to use long after the end of the war. Creel’s propaganda machine transformed a nation that had elected a president who campaigned on a platform of peace in 1916 to a nation beating the drums of war and ready to persecute and incarcerate anyone who resisted. To counteract criticism of government policy and to stimulate patriotic zeal, Creel employed numerous strategies, including the dispatching of at least 75,000 men—known as the Four-Minute Men—to movie theaters, churches, schools, and labor halls to give over 750,000 four-minute speeches that promoted the importance of the war and issued a warning about the threat of domestic sedition.


And even further, Wilson put into motion several new laws to assist the government in identifying and eliminating troublemakers. One was the Selective Service Act in 1917, which made it a crime to obstruct the draft. Another was the 1917 Espionage Act, which made it a crime to obstruct the war. And that made it a crime to criticize the war, to discourage enlistment, to encourage mutiny, and to impede in any way the government’s campaign to build a military force. The Espionage Act also gave the postmaster general the right to censor what he might consider “seditious” magazines and newspapers and to impound the mail of unpatriotic organizations.


In 1918, Congress passed the Alien Act, which gave the government the right to deport aliens who were anarchists or who advocated the overthrow of the American government. And in 1918, after heated debates in Congress, Wilson signed an amended version of the Espionage Act, which vastly extended the already long arm of the law. Under the new iteration of the 1917 law, it was a crime not only to obstruct the draft but to attempt to obstruct it. It was a crime to block the sale of Liberty Bonds. It was a crime to disrupt the production of goods deemed necessary to the war effort. And it was a crime “to willfully utter, print, write or publish” any expression of disloyalty toward or criticism of the U.S. government, its Constitution, its flag, even its military uniforms. The law also added to the postmaster general’s censorship powers by giving him the authority to identify “upon evidence satisfactory to him” which individuals were using the mails to promote seditious ideas in violation of the new act and then to allow him to halt their mail deliveries. The penalties were fines up to $10,000 and prison up to twenty years.


In the June 1918 issue of its newsletter, The Spy Glass, the American Protective League rejoiced in the new sedition law: “Signed by President Wilson on May 16 [1918], the amended espionage law opens a new chapter in the work of the American Protective League. For the first time we have an inclusive law under which to operate—a law broad enough in its scope and classifications to cover and define as serious crimes a multitude of offenses which were classed as minor by our peace-time code.”


Others feared the new law, especially the ninth clause, in which the word “willfully,” included in all other clauses of the law, was left out. “Whoever shall by word or act support or favor the cause of any country with which the United States is at war, or by word or act oppose the cause of the United States therein,” it said in part. This meant that, unlike the other clauses, a person could be convicted without having to prove any disloyal intent. “Like murder or burglary, espionage and sedition are now positive crimes,” so said the APL newsletter. “No one who commits them can plead innocent intent…. The amended law is a powerful weapon put into our hands.”


What began as a wartime measure to protect Americans on their own soil and to outmaneuver German spies evolved into a homeland war waged against anyone who did not agree with what the government was doing, especially with regard to the war. The APL’s profile of the enemy included anyone who happened on one occasion to put together one sentence indicating opposition to the war, without any intention to betray his or her nation and without an underlying scheme of working for the Germans. Too often these were innocent citizens practicing their democratic rights of protesting, speaking their minds, writing their hearts.


Socialists, anarchists, pacifists, labor activists, African-Americans, and foreigners were the usual and obvious targets. All who associated with them or happened to attend a meeting organized by such groups were automatically at risk.


Russians, as well as Germans, were high on the list of the suspicious. This was because intelligence operatives and officials were certain that Germany was behind the Russian Revolution. The new Bolshevik government had pulled Russia out of the war in March of 1918, causing German troops to withdraw from the east and strengthen their offensive against the Allies on the Western Front.


All labor organizers—especially members of the determined yet small Industrial Workers of the World, known as the IWW or the Wobblies—had been targets before the war and continued to be during the war. Indeed, the volunteer spy corps, which drew so heavily from the business community, used national security and the Espionage Act as reasons to break up labor meetings and to detain labor leaders. Before the war, labor had struggled for union recognition and a portion of Gilded Age profits, encountering stiff, sometimes deadly, resistance from businessmen and industrialists. During the war, the battle against labor took on a new form—“patriots” fighting against workers who might disrupt war production and therefore be part of an enemy plot. Now, after the war, workers would again be targeted, this time as Bolsheviks and Bolshevik sympathizers.


African-Americans were also deemed suspicious. Alienation and unrest in black communities must be the fault of outside agitators, said the government. Thus, the MID had a special section of spies devoted to “Negro Subversion.” During the war, unrest was a sign that Germans had stirred up blacks; after the war, unrest was a manifestation of the covert action of the Bolsheviks plotting to use blacks to foment revolution in the United States. Black soldiers returning from Europe were especially worrisome. As Wilson told a fellow passenger on the George Washington, they could be the “greatest medium in conveying Bolshevism to America.”


So focused had most Americans been on the war in Europe and on the flu epidemic at home that they hardly noticed the shadow war. Those who did were often indifferent to it. Others applauded its mission of sweeping the radical rubbish out of sight using whatever methods might work—prison, deportation, beatings, lynchings—constitutional or not. There were those, however, who did what they could to obstruct such a covert war, claiming it had gone beyond protecting domestic security by targeting innocent civilians. On Armistice Day, they were the ones who cheered for the end of two wars, or so they hoped.


A week after the Armistice, despite the Justice Department’s November 11 statement in the Washington Post about ongoing domestic surveillance, the head of the MID, Marlborough Churchill, sent an internal memo to his intelligence officers instructing them to drop all investigations of civilians, to dismiss all volunteers, and to collect the identification cards and any other credentials distributed to civilian spies. “The emergency no longer exists,” he wrote, and any “unfinished disloyalty” cases were to be turned over to the Department of Justice. The army’s battle against subversive civilians was over, claimed Churchill, who then prepared to join Wilson in Paris as head of intelligence at the peace conference.


But more than memos and edicts would be needed to stop the hundreds of thousands of shadow warriors from continuing their war on those they viewed as America’s domestic enemies. Most MID branches ignored Churchill’s edict. Some believed the German threat had not subsided. Others conjured new threats. Still others, consumed with self-importance, were unwilling to end what they had put so much energy and identity into creating. And then there was the fact that despite any internal memos, the government was telling the media that regardless of the impending peace, the nation must remain vigilant. “The need for the League is as great now as it has been in the past and I am entirely satisfied that the need for this organization will continue for some time to come, entirely without regard to the progress of peace negotiations,” A. B. Bielaski, the chief of the Bureau of Investigation, told the press.


Even before Churchill’s memo, the New York City division of the MID decided not to disband, thanks in part to the head of its propaganda section, Archibald E. Stevenson. The day after the Armistice, Stevenson turned in a staggering report outlining his perceptions of the latest dangers to national security, principally the spread of Bolshevism. The tone was urgent. All of Eastern Europe was soon to follow the path of the Bolsheviks, he wrote, as well as Italy and France. And the “congested and industrial districts” of the United States were especially at risk. Consider that there are four million people in New York alone, he wrote, who are either immigrants or children of immigrants, all vulnerable to the propaganda of Bolshevist infiltrators. In New York, he knew there were at least ten revolutionary meetings each week, perhaps fifteen. And the reports he received from agents and stenographers attending those meetings were proof enough for him that “without a question there is an organized conspiracy to overthrow the present form of the American government.” His report was sent on to Washington, where the MID acting director, in Churchill’s absence, encouraged Stevenson enthusiastically to continue his observations and studies—a decision the MID would one day regret.


At the same time, the Espionage Act was still alive and well in Washington. Immediately after the Armistice, the Justice Department and its U.S. attorneys in major cities announced that these wartime laws would stay in effect until the war was officially over. Effectively nothing would change until the peace negotiations ended and the U.S. had signed and ratified a treaty. More than just keeping the laws on the books, they claimed they would continue to utilize them to expose any un-American sentiment that might be expressed. “There are still many individuals who have to be watched and reported upon, and there will be no cessation of vigilance in that direction,” an assistant U.S. attorney in Los Angeles told the press. “We want the loyal people of Los Angeles to still keep an eye on the violators of the Espionage Act and make reports to us when they see such infractions. Arrests will be made for violations of the war laws, just as they have been in the past.”


This attitude became pervasive nationwide. When a New York member of the Socialist Party spoke his mind at a November 1918 meeting in Manhattan, an attending MID agent and stenographer reported every word. In the days ahead the speaker was arrested under the act, convicted, and sentenced to fifteen years in jail. The Washington office filed a statement on the case and commented that it was essential for the New York branch of the MID to proceed in its coverage of “radical” meetings, concluding that “the wheels of justice continue to turn in spite of the Armistice”—running into and over everyone who had, as the Sedition Act instructed, even the appearance of disloyalty. Among those caught in the wide net of domestic intelligence was Carl Sandburg.


A few weeks after the George Washington left New York harbor, the SS Bergensfjord from Stockholm, Sweden, pulled in. It was Christmas Day 1918. After leaving the Bergensfjord, Carl Sandburg had planned to catch a train to Cleveland, where he would drop off a bundle of papers to his editor, and, as soon as he could, take a train home to Chicago. Sandburg had been on assignment in Sweden since early October and he was a new father who had not yet seen his one-month-old daughter. He ached for the moment when he could open the door of his Chicago home and wrap himself in the harmonious, safe world of his family. But that was not going to happen anytime soon.


Waiting for Sandburg in New York was Captain John B. Trevor, the head of the New York branch of the MID. Although the United States had not been at war with any of the nations about which Sandburg had been writing, mainly Finland and Russia, or in which he had been living, Sweden, Trevor nonetheless arrested him the moment he stepped off the boat on charges of violating the 1917 wartime law known as the Trading with the Enemy Act. Government agents from the Secret Service, the army, and customs confiscated all written materials in Sandburg’s baggage and on his person and sent them to be analyzed by government censors. And then they commenced to interrogate him. It was an irksome, frustrating process that would last for several days—as long as three hours one day—followed by weeks of negotiations in a tug-of-war over the allegations against him.


Since July of 1918, Sandburg, then forty years old, had worked for the Newspaper Enterprise Association, a Scripps news service that placed its stories in three hundred or more publications with a collective circulation of at least 4.5 million readers. Sandburg’s assignment was to cover Eastern Europe for the NEA from Stockholm, which his editor, Sam Hughes, believed would be an excellent place to find fresh, important stories from Germany and Russia. Onward from the day in the summer of 1918 when he first got the assignment, however, Sandburg grappled with a suspicious government and annoying red tape. It was possible, he soon learned, that the State Department might not even grant him a passport.


The destination was problematic. All branches of intelligence were closely watching the flow of human traffic through Stockholm, where intrigue seemed to be on the rise and where spies from the Allied and Central Powers congregated. But Sandburg himself was also a problem. An avowed socialist, Sandburg was sympathetic to those caught in the web of the Espionage and Sedition Acts, and he had many friends, including the outspoken radicals John Reed and his wife, Louise Bryant, who supported the Russian Revolution. Well aware of his liabilities, he asked his book editor, Alfred Harcourt of the New York publishing house Henry Holt, in addition to the highly respected attorney Clarence Darrow and labor leader Samuel Gompers, to write strong letters noting his patriotism and his reputation for objective journalism. Not until late September was Sandburg approved for a passport, and finally on October 4 he left for Stockholm. There he wrote numerous stories, as well as poems, and garnered excellent journalistic sources, including a Russian man who had taught school in Chicago and now had high-level contacts in the Russian government.


That autumn, Sandburg’s NEA editor Hughes began to suspect that misinformation abounded in the United States about the Bolsheviks. Believing that Americans deserved to know the truth, he wanted to publish an article or series about the Bolsheviks, one that informed the American public truthfully about Russia’s new ruling party. Hughes relied heavily on Sandburg to gather as much Russian material as he could—photographs, films, pamphlets, anecdotes, newspaper clips, interviews—while in Stockholm. By the time Sandburg was packing to return to the United States, he had filled two trunks with Russian books, newspapers, and pamphlets for the NEA, which he sent by mail. Knowing it would take two months or longer for Hughes to get the trunks, he also carried plenty of material with him on board the Bergensfjord, including notebooks from his interviews with as many as two hundred people, clips about Russia and Germany from Scandinavian newspapers, files of the Soviet Izvestia Congress from June 1918, and a recent three-volume history of Russia. Tucked in the inner pocket of his coat, he transported, with great sensitivity to its historical and current value, a published English translation of V. I. Lenin’s A Letter to American Workingmen from the Socialist Soviet Republic of Russia printed by the Socialist Publication Society. He also carried with him some money: 400 kronor from the Russian source who had taught school in Chicago, for his wife who was still in America; and two drafts of $5,000 each for the head of the Finnish Information Bureau in the United States. When he was arrested the money was seized.


Writing to Secretary of War Newton Baker, Hughes protested Sandburg’s detention and the confiscation of his papers. These were the sources of a journalist on assignment. Besides, America was no longer at war, and Sweden had been neutral. Calling Sandburg’s detention an unconscionable act of censorship, Hughes would fight it, he wrote. Baker wrote back that Sandburg was carrying “revolutionary literature” and the money was for Finn revolutionaries. Hughes then informed Baker that he believed the government was detaining Sandburg because he was a socialist. Hughes pointed out that the government incorrectly believed Sandburg to be a German. After all, the government had spelled his name “berg” instead of “burg” in its files on him. This caused the suspicion, Hughes believed. What they were doing was wrong and when it was over, Hughes told Baker that he would tell Sandburg to write—for publication—what he knew to be true and what he felt was right, despite any shadow of government censorship. “Isn’t it fine for the government to treat such a man like a dog of a traitor?” Hughes wrote in his letter to Baker.


Sandburg tried to remain calm. “Busier than a cranberry merchant these days,” he wrote to his wife on December 27. “American and British intelligence officers and an assistant district attorney spent three hours asking questions.” No amount of reasoning, however, could explain to him why his notebooks and clips were such a threat.


In a letter to Hughes, Sandburg wrote, “Day by day the retention of the Russian ‘revolutionary literature,’ which is NEA property and which was brought in under instructions, becomes more preposterous. Of the total of stuff printed in the Russian language probably less than a half can be construed as ‘revolutionary.’ Of this more than 75 per cent has already been printed in publications in the United States and is now in the public libraries or on sale nation-wide at newsstands.”









CHAPTER 3

Christmas at Villa Lewaro





In the majestic halls of Villa Lewaro on Christmas Day, spies and censorship seemed a world away. Situated on the Hudson River, twenty miles north of Manhattan, this veritable palace, with its splendorous view of the New Jersey Palisades, its thirty-four rooms, its Italian Renaissance porticoes and balconies, its sweeping marble staircase, and its stunning sculptures and tapestries, was one of the homes owned by businesswoman Madam C. J. Walker. On this day Walker was hosting a holiday gala for thirty guests.


Some of Walker’s guests had arrived the night before and others came throughout the day. Passing under the eight two-story-high Ionic columns, they entered the house and stepped into the main hall, walking around the Cartier sculpture of a jaguar attacking a rearing horse, and congregating in the vast dining room with its ceiling of painted mermaids and demons. As they listened to Christmas songs piped to all floors of the house from an organ in the music room, they shook hands, put faces to names, and settled in for the next twenty-four hours. Among them were painters and sculptors, ministers and soldiers, professors and poets. A well-known Washington sculptor, May Howard Jackson, was there with her husband, who headed the Math Department at Washington’s oldest black public school. There were several “Harlem Hellfighters” from the 369th Regiment, including one who had won the coveted Croix de Guerre. Of particular interest was a guest who taught Spanish at Dunbar High School in D.C. Her name was Hallie Elvira Queen.


Queen held a bachelor’s degree from Cornell University and a master’s from Stanford. Fluent in Spanish, French, and German, she had worked as an interpreter during the war and had chaired Howard University’s Red Cross chapter. Besides her current teaching job, there was one more impressive detail about her work life—one that was missing from her résumé and that few if any of Walker’s guests could have known. Since 1917, Queen had been working for the army’s Military Intelligence Division as a translator and an informant, assigned to carry out surveillance of blacks. Queen, the woman who would be helping Walker that night wrap and tag gifts for her guests, was a spy.


For months, Walker’s closest friends had warned her that her strong stands on race issues and her association with outspoken black Americans such as William Monroe Trotter of Boston and Ida B. Wells-Barnett of Chicago, both crusaders against black oppression, might earn her a spy or two. The government was watching her, the friends cautioned, and probably had been for years. An absurd idea, she would say, and certainly unnecessary, especially now that the war was over. How could anyone question the activities and intent of someone with such a stellar record of contributing to the progress of her race? In the coming year, 1919, Madam Walker might even reach her goal of becoming America’s first black millionaire. And to be sure, one of the motives in building such a showplace as Villa Lewaro, as she often noted in interviews and speeches, was to show “the business possibilities within the race, to point out to young Negroes what a lone woman accomplished and to inspire them to do big things.”


Walker had certainly done big things against colossal odds. By 1918, most African-Americans had heard at least some part of Walker’s remarkable story. Sarah Breedlove, as Walker was named at birth, was born on a Louisiana plantation where her parents, former slaves, were sharecroppers. At age six, she was orphaned and moved to Mississippi to live with her sister. When she was fourteen, she married. Three years later, she gave birth to a daughter. Her husband died when she was twenty and she moved to St. Louis. Walker’s options as a single black woman raising a child were few. In fact, there were only two: fieldwork or housework. And so for the next fifteen years, she labored as a washerwoman. She also suffered from a scalp disease during that time, which caused her hair to break off and fall out. In an anxious dream, Walker later told writers, she came up with a concoction to save her hair and restore the health of her scalp. Though never intending to market it, she wanted to help other women who were similarly afflicted and so she began to sell her solution, advertising it with the message that the cure had come in a dream, as a message from God. The success of her business, however, came on the wings of her passionate conviction about what women wanted and needed most: to be attractive and to be financially independent. Madam Walker eventually employed a sales force of ten thousand black women, referred to as “hair culturists,” and she expanded beyond hair care products into cosmetics. By the end of 1918, the earnings of the Madam C. J. Walker Manufacturing Company had jumped ahead of the previous year by $100,000 to nearly $276,000.


Walker stood out in a way that all highly successful people do, which meant, among other things, that she had her supporters and her critics. Some African-Americans diminished her success, saying that she had taken advantage of the insecurities of black women who wanted porcelain complexions and straight hair. Others found her lifestyle of elegance and frills too indulgent. Walker tried to sway her critics by showing how many black women and their families had benefited from her business. After all, she had fulfilled one very big dream: offering a black woman options beyond working on her knees on the floor of a white woman’s kitchen or bending over rows of cotton twelve hours a day. Besides, she had announced publicly that, after her death, her villa on the Hudson River would be left to a cause beneficial to her race. Her generosity was obvious. She donated large sums of money to numerous black charities. She helped to purchase Frederick Douglass’s house and preserve it as a museum. She funded scholarships for young black women. And she assisted the NAACP.


Still, she had critics in the government and, as her friends suspected, she also had her own government “shadows,” ever curious about how she planned to use her money and her power in the black community. What were the causes she championed? Was she sympathetic to the Bolshevik Revolution? Did she have ties to the Socialist Party? Did she donate funds to either? What was her relationship with William Monroe Trotter and his National Equal Rights League, with W. E. B. Du Bois and the NAACP? How much money had she given to African nations, and why? And with whom might she be meeting on any given day in the Villa Lewaro library with its wall-to-wall shelves of Moroccan-leather-bound volumes?


Exactly how long the government had been watching Madam Walker was unclear, but the Military Intelligence Division began their file on her about two weeks before the Christmas gala. It was around that time that Madam Walker had attended Trotter’s National Race Congress in Washington, which was planning to send a delegation to the Paris Peace Conference to champion the rights of Africans and African-Americans. Walker was selected unanimously as one of the delegates, with more votes than any other. She and Ida B. Wells-Barnett, the bold Chicagoan who had drawn national attention to the issue of lynching nearly thirty years before, were the only women delegates. Walker was honored—not only to be chosen to represent the National Equal Rights League but also to be in the company of Wells-Barnett, who as long ago as the 1880s had refused to leave a passenger train car designated for whites only. In fact, she had bitten the hand of the conductor who had tried to force her to move, and then sued the Chesapeake, Ohio, & Southwestern Railroad. And Walker was determined to go to Paris. The job of the delegates was to lobby for racial justice worldwide and to push for the independence of Germany’s four colonies in Africa, whose fate the peace conference would determine: Togo, Cameroon, German East Africa, and German Southwest Africa. The presence of such accomplished women as Wells-Barnett and Walker would surely make a difference.


Indeed Walker believed, as Trotter, Du Bois, and Wells-Barnett all did, that black Americans could have a significant impact on the peace talks. And for Walker to represent her race at Paris was consistent with her work over the years on projects involving race equality and self-determination in Africa. She had supported schools in Africa and African students in the United States, and at one point she even dreamed of building a vocational school in Africa much like the Tuskegee Institute. For any African-American to go to Paris did not seem like a militant idea to Madam Walker or to anyone else who attended the meetings that week in Washington—with the exception of one attendee, Major Walter H. Loving, a black MID agent.


What placed Madam Walker firmly in the MID’s Negro Subversion file was likely Major Loving’s report on Trotter’s congress. Loving was not only a black agent working for the MID; he was the man in charge of “Negro surveillance.” For the past year, he had had his own private office in Washington from which he ran a national, highly secretive MID program organized for spying on African-Americans. To do this, he had traveled nationwide putting together a core of black volunteer spies. In his own sleuthing ventures, he spied on field secretaries in the black YMCA and he assessed the tone of editorials in black newspapers. Marlborough Churchill, the MID head now in Paris with Wilson, believed that if black Americans complained about lynching or any other serious issues of race conditions in America in speeches, at rallies, or on editorial pages, they were endangering the security of the nation. Thus, part of Loving’s role in protecting his nation was to meet with editors who were publishing articles with the “wrong tone” and to admonish them, threatening to throw their newspapers to the government censors. The Chicago Defender and the NAACP’s magazine, The Crisis, were among his targets. Churchill once said of Loving that he was “one of the best types of white man’s negro.”


The Crisis had been operating under the scrutiny of Loving and the MID since May of 1918. So too had its highly esteemed editor, W. E. B. Du Bois, and potentially all the 32,000 NAACP members. Ironically, Major Joel E. Spingarn, the white chairman of the NAACP board, was also working for the Military Intelligence Division, which meant that he was spying on members of his own organization. Even more intriguing was the fact that Du Bois knew this and still agreed to work with Spingarn. Although Du Bois’s cooperation might have appeared to be a betrayal of his organization and even his race, in fact his motives were quite the opposite. If domestic spies attended meetings, rallies, and speeches in black communities and listened in on private conversations, they would learn, Du Bois believed, the true reasons for the distrust, dissension, and despair among black Americans. They would see that the racial unrest so evident and so worrisome in America was not a result of outside agitators from Germany or Russia, but rather the consequence of severe injustices in America. They would report back to the government about the refusal of the Red Cross to employ black nurses; about blacks allowed only third-class accommodations on trains; about government bureaus refusing to hire black stenographers; about Jim Crow laws and discrimination in restaurants, theaters, and hotels; and about the slanted way the white press reported black news. They would surely learn of the problems in the very building in Washington that housed the MID, where five black typists worked on the sixth floor and yet were only allowed to use the restroom on the first floor. But the complaint that would far exceed all others, the one that spies would report from all sectors of black America, if they were in fact gathering accurate information, would be about lynching.


Shortly after agreeing to work with the MID in the spring of 1918, Du Bois and Spingarn organized a conference of thirty-two black editors and ten black leaders to discuss what was really happening in black America. Considering the ongoing surveillance, the conference would be “covered,” Du Bois surmised, and the final report noting the ideas of the participants might thus gain some attention in Washington. “German propaganda among us is powerless, but the apparent indifference of our own Government may be dangerous,” the editors concluded. “Federal intervention to suppress lynching is imperative,” they said.


By the end of 1918, sixty-four African-Americans had been lynched in the United States by mobs and without trials—a figure that was up by almost 40 percent from the previous year. Five were women, two of whom were pregnant, five months and nine. Eleven were soldiers, on leave or returning home, still in full uniform. Thirteen were charged with assaulting white women. Other offenses included “creating a disturbance,” “stealing hogs,” “immorality,” “suspicion of threatening a white man’s life,” “attempted murder,” “robbing house and frightening women,” and “resisting arrest.” An ad in the December 1918 issue of The Crisis read: “If you believe that lynching should be stopped and that the democracy for which we have fought is to apply to all people, and particularly to a race of eleven million loyal Americans who unstintingly and unselfishly gave their young men, their money and their efforts to help America win the war, in spite of these terrible outrages, even while the war was in progress on their race, you can show your desire to help in no better way than by” donating money for the NAACP to lobby the government for federal laws to prosecute lynching.


Du Bois would be proven right in the end, as the MID was indeed collecting information that when examined would reveal the unconscionable conditions of blacks in America even as it catalogued and indexed details about every black publication, black leader, and black thinker. But what would the MID do with it?


Three days before Wilson left for Europe, Du Bois boarded the transport Orizaba at New York, also bound for Paris. On board were ninety-eight newspaper correspondents, photographers, and motion picture operators. All of them were white except the president of Tuskegee Institute, Robert Moton, his assistant, a New York Age reporter, and Du Bois, who had managed to obtain a passport as The Crisis editor. Du Bois had requested a passport for himself and five other black Americans, who were awaiting the State Department’s approval. Besides pressing delegates at the peace table to address black oppression worldwide, Du Bois planned to do interviews and collect firsthand material for a history of black Americans in the war. And, to draw even more attention to the just claims of the black race, he was organizing a Pan-African Congress in Paris, which, among other things, would send petitions and resolutions to the peace conference urging decolonization of Africa. “It would be a calamity at the time of the transformation of the world,” Du Bois wrote in a memo to Secretary of State Robert Lansing, “to have two hundred million human beings absolutely without a voice.”


Madam Walker, William Monroe Trotter, and others agreed. As representatives of the National Equal Rights League, they eagerly sent in their own applications for passports, not knowing they would not receive a firm response until early February. Like Du Bois, who planned on African-American representation at the Pan-African Congress, Walker and the eight other NERL delegates were hopeful for approval. They were confident that they soon would be making history in Paris. For they would be the representatives of their people asking the peace conference to apply the ideal of self-determination to African nations, to shine a light on the hypocrisies that oppressed them, and to return the German colonies in Africa to native control. But also like Du Bois—who was shadowed even on his transatlantic trip—they were being watched.


Hallie Queen’s relationship with the MID had begun in August of 1917 through a former professor of hers at Cornell University, Dr. J. W. Jenks. That summer she sent Dr. Jenks several detailed observations of African-Americans she had been watching and considered suspicious. With the first of what were effectively surveillance reports she sent a note to Jenks that read: “I am sending you the enclosures, not that I love my race any the less but that I love humanity more.”


Dr. Jenks forwarded that note, several of her reports, and a recommendation to an official at the War College, which during the summer of 1917 was in charge of Military Intelligence. Jenks’s own note gave Queen high praise: “As I told you she was earlier a pupil of mine and I think would be intelligent and faithful in undertaking any work. I shall myself be glad to help in this connection in any way that I can.”


On August 23 the official interviewed Queen and wrote a detailed report about his impressions. He was especially pleased that she was fluent in four languages and he believed that she was clearly “in a position to hear and observe unrest among the colored people, particularly the more educated ones.” Soon Queen was watching various individuals in Washington and sending handwritten reports from her apartment to the MID via Dr. Jenks, who during the war was assigned to work on the Aircraft Production Board. She signed her letters “Holding myself at your service, I am Yours very truly, Hallie E. Queen.”


On Christmas night, Madam Walker’s chauffeur, Louis Tyler, drove Walker, Queen, and a few other guests into Manhattan to see a basketball game at the Manhattan Casino at 155th Street and Eighth Avenue. Here Madam Walker’s daughter and the well-known black writer James Weldon Johnson had hosted a glittery send-off for the soldiers of the 369th Regiment earlier in 1918. So celebrated was Madam Walker that she was asked to start the game by throwing the ball from her box. She then received a standing ovation. That night she and Queen stayed in the city at the elegant townhouse belonging to Madam Walker’s daughter.


Madam Walker apparently never knew about Queen’s covert work during the war nor did she suspect Queen of spying on her during the Christmas holidays, which Queen may or may not have been doing. But in the months ahead, Walker would awaken to the government’s suspicions about her. “Now they [soldiers] will soon be returning. To what? To submit to being strung up, riddled with bullets, burned at the stake?” she said to a white businessman in Manhattan who had called her “militant.” “No! A thousand times No! And what good friend, even of humanity, would wish it so?”


A few days after Christmas, Madam Walker and Tyler drove through the first severe snowstorm of the season to the southern tip of Manhattan to Pier A to watch the return of three warships in the Atlantic Fleet. While tens of thousands of New Yorkers lined the Hudson River shoreline, from Battery Park all the way to 173rd Street, Madam Walker joined a small group invited by the mayor to view the spectacle from a police boat. The group included the New York police commissioner, the governor of British Columbia, newspaper tycoon William Randolph Hearst, and retail executive Rodman Wanamaker. Three out of the eleven ships were scheduled to dock that morning: the Kansas with 1,428 returning soldiers; the North Carolina with 1,288; and the Georgia, with 967. En route were the Nieuw Amsterdam, the Pastores, the Powhatan, the Koningin der Nederlanden, the Bali, the Siboney and the Karesaspa, carrying in all 16,375 men, all white. The approximately 40,000 black soldiers who had fought in the war, including the Harlem Hellfighters, would begin their journeys home in early 1919.


That same morning, while the sun slowly warmed up the chilly New York air, the victims of America’s last lynching of 1918 were buried in Alabama—two black men, ages fifteen and twenty, and two black women, ages sixteen and twenty. All four had been hanged in Mississippi from the girders of a bridge spanning the Chickasawhay River. They were suspected of murdering a local doctor whose actual murderer, a white man, would be found several days after the hangings. As the four victims stood on the bridge with the nooses around their necks, they begged the white men to set them free. Despite the severe beatings they had endured to force their confessions, they continued to profess their innocence. But this only agitated their killers. To stop the cries of innocence, one man repeatedly struck the older of the girls in the mouth with a wrench, hitting her enough times to knock out all her teeth. She was five months pregnant. The younger girl was also pregnant, due in two weeks. They hit her enough times in the back that she was nearly unconscious by the time the four were hanged. On the afternoon of the burials, the younger girl’s mother believed that the baby in her daughter’s womb was still alive. But no one knew how to save it and everyone was afraid to seek help outside the circle of friends who had come to mourn the dead that day.









CHAPTER 4

Women and Molasses





At 4 P.M. on January 1, a horse-drawn wagon pulled up on the sidewalk in front of the White House, directly in line with the main entrance. Two women in full-length white dresses solemnly and silently unloaded a stone urn filled with firewood. A line of women carrying purple, white, and gold banners then appeared. One of them threw lighted matches into the pile of kindling while another deposited a slip of paper with an excerpt from one of President Wilson’s speeches on democracy delivered in Europe, this one at Manchester, England. “We will enter into no combinations of power which are not combinations of all of us,” it read.


Then, every two hours throughout the New Year’s night, a bell sounded from the upper balcony of the headquarters of the National Woman’s Party a half block away, signaling a new group of women to march to the White House, tend the fire, wave the tricolored banners of their crusade, and throw another of Wilson’s recent speeches into the flames. The demonstration had been planned by Alice Paul, the leader of the National Woman’s Party. She called her exhibition “the watch fires of freedom.” The fire, Paul told the press, was a token of women’s indignation against President Wilson’s claim to be the spokesman of the people of his nation and the leader of world democracy while half of his own people were disenfranchised.


One excerpt soon to be ashes was Wilson’s toast at Buckingham Palace in December: “We have used great words, all of us. We have used the words ‘right’ and ‘justice,’ and now we are to prove whether or not we understand these words.” Another was from his December 13 speech upon his arrival in France: “Public opinion strongly sustains all proposals for co-operation of self-governing peoples.”


At each enactment of the ritual, one woman fed the fire with the paper scraps bearing Wilson’s speeches while two others unfurled a banner that read:


 


PRESIDENT WILSON IS DECEIVING THE WORLD WHEN


HE APPEARS AS THE PROPHET OF DEMOCRACY.




PRESIDENT WILSON HAS OPPOSED THOSE WHO


DEMAND DEMOCRACY FOR THIS COUNTRY.




HE IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DISFRANCHISEMENT OF


MILLIONS OF AMERICANS.




WE IN AMERICA KNOW THIS.




THE WORLD WILL FIND HIM OUT.




Taunting Wilson as a hypocrite and using the White House as a battlefield were not new tactics for the thirty-four-year-old Alice Paul. Born a Quaker in New Jersey, Paul may have had a demure, prim appearance and often listened with hands calmly folded in her lap, but at heart she was a warrior. After graduating from Swarthmore College in Pennsylvania, Paul went to London, where she studied labor at the universities of London and Birmingham and, like her fellow reformers Jane Addams and Eleanor Roosevelt, she worked with women in the London slums—an experience that raised her consciousness about the importance of women’s equality. In 1913, she returned to the United States and founded the National Woman’s Party, thus beginning her campaign for suffrage. In the spring of 1917 Paul had attacked the president for sending soldiers to Europe to fight for democracy while at home denying women their right to vote as citizens of a democracy. Exercising her right to demonstrate many times over the next six months, the slight, frail-looking Paul led battalions of suffragists in front of the White House, all brandishing banners of protest. On October 20, 1917, Paul was arrested for picketing with a banner that carried Wilson’s words from a 1917 poster soliciting funds for a Liberty Bond: “The time has come to conquer or submit. For us there can be but one choice. We have made it.”


Sentenced to seven months in prison, Paul, already only ninety-five pounds, immediately commenced a hunger strike, refusing anything other than bread and water. This, she believed, could be the strongest weapon of all to draw the nation’s attention to her cause. During the three weeks and one day that the hunger strike lasted, prison officials threatened to remove her to an insane asylum. Still, she would not give up. Fearing she would die, prison doctors funneled liquids into her stomach through tubes forced down her throat. After five weeks in prison she was set free. Five weeks after that, President Wilson, who ardently opposed what he viewed as Paul’s militant party—his respect leaned toward the more moderate National American Woman Suffrage Association—showed that he was listening carefully to her most recent threat: that women would withhold their support for his war if their right to vote was not granted. In early January of 1918, Wilson, who had said from the start that suffrage was a state issue, announced his endorsement of what was called the Susan B. Anthony Amendment to the Constitution “as a war measure.” Women’s suffrage was essential now, he stressed, as “We have made partners of the women in this war. Shall we admit them only to a partnership of sacrifice and suffering and toil and not to a partnership of privilege and of right?” But Wilson, the suffragists claimed, did not press Congress to move ahead with the amendment. Wilson announced his support, they said, and wanted theirs, but he was not putting his words into motion. Thus, Paul and her compatriots blamed Wilson when in October of 1918 the Senate voted against the amendment’s passage, just two votes short of the necessary two-thirds majority: fifty-four for and thirty against. Now, armed with unwavering determination, a growing constituency, and a savvy understanding of the endgame dynamics of party politics, Paul looked at 1919 as the year.


By dusk on New Year’s night 1919, hundreds of spectators had gathered to watch the shooting flames of protest. Then suddenly out of the cluster a dozen or more soldiers and citizens darted, firmly grasping rocks and hammers. They charged upon the women’s giant urn, smashing it and hurling the shards at the women. Knocking down the women who held banners, they screamed cheers for the president: “The world’s leader of democracy.” “The best friend the women of America ever had.” Police arrived and drove the mob away, though not arresting anyone. The women then started a new fire in nearby Lafayette Park in another urn. And just as the flames once again lit up the faces of the crowd, six women were arrested: Mrs. Phoebe Munnecke of Detroit; Mary Dubrow of Passaic, New Jersey; Julia Emory of Baltimore; Mrs. Lawrence Lewis of Philadelphia; Mrs. Annie Arnell of Wilmington, Delaware; and Alice Paul. As they were taken away, other members of their party appeared with fresh kindling, piling it higher and higher in the urn. By dawn, the watch fires were still ablaze and eight more women had been arrested. Given the choice of a fine or incarceration, they chose a five-day jail term. The light of the flames, Paul had told the press earlier that day, “will act as a spotlight on President Wilson who, while attempting to secure the allegiance of the nations for self-government declares himself unable to win one despotic Senatorial vote for self-government in America.” On the third day of the year, a Mrs. John Winters Brannan and Mrs. John Rogers, Jr., both members of the National Advisory Council of the National Woman’s Party, spoke to a New York Times reporter. “Our Liberty bonfires are a symbol of our contempt for words unsupported by deeds. We will not sit in silence while the President presents himself to the people of Europe as the representative of a free people when the American people are not free and he is chiefly responsible for it,” said Mrs. Brannan.


A few hours later, as women waving their banners of justice streamed toward the White House once again, Mrs. Brannan, of St. Paul, and Mrs. Rogers, of Boston, were arrested, followed by more than a dozen others. Soon, with Paul, they would formulate yet another plan: this time to tour the nation on a special train they would call the “Democracy Limited,” taking their cause to the people. Thus would they pressure legislators who had blocked passage of the suffrage amendment. For three weeks, beginning early in February, the twenty-six women, all “convicts” now from the watch-fire incident, planned to travel to at least fifteen cities. “From Prison to People” would be their slogan.


On that same January 3, a missive, unknown to Paul and the other watch-fire women, landed on the desk of Senator George Moses of New Hampshire—one that would coincidentally bless their next venture. It was from former president Theodore Roosevelt, written from his home on Long Island, where he was recovering from a two-month bout of severe inflammatory rheumatism. Resting in the hospital from Armistice Day to Christmas Day, Roosevelt had immediately begun a daily regimen of work that included letter writing. In the letter to Senator Moses, Roosevelt said that women’s right to vote was not in any way a “wildcat experiment” and must, without a doubt, be adopted: “You know how fond I am of [Henry] Cabot Lodge, and I think he has done wonderful work during the past three months in international matters. But it is a misfortune from the standpoint of the war and from the standpoint of party expediency that he [and other senators named] should have been so bitter about woman suffrage. I earnestly hope you can see your way clear to support the national amendment. It is coming anyhow and it ought to come.”


Three days later, on January 6, at about 4 A.M., Roosevelt died. His physicians said the immediate cause of death was a clot of blood that had detached itself from a vein and entered the lungs. The clot was attributed to the poison in his blood from a fever he had contracted five years before during a trip to Brazil. The nation mourned, the world mourned, and everyone, from statesmen and financiers to chauffeurs and hunters, had something to say about Roosevelt’s indomitable will, his strong intellect, and his marvelous store of energy. He was a man of action. He was a man of thought. He was a man who at any cost of personal popularity defended what he believed to be right. Roosevelt’s life ended at the commencement of a year destined to be a crucible of change.


On the day of Roosevelt’s funeral, Paul and her cohorts were released from jail and immediately began work on the details of their national tour. It would begin in Charleston, South Carolina, they decided, and after stops in Jacksonville, Knoxville, New Orleans, San Antonio, Los Angeles, San Francisco, Denver, Chicago, Milwaukee, Detroit, Syracuse, Boston, and Hartford, it would end in New York in March on the last day of the present Congress. A New York Times editorial writer who dubbed the tour the “Prison Special” said that the timing was good, as the nation was vulnerable “these days to flying squadrons of agitators.” Look at Prohibition, he noted. Perhaps suffrage was next.


Unlike the slow-moving suffrage amendment, the new constitutional amendment for prohibition of the sale and consumption of alcohol nationwide was only days away from passing the test of ratification in thirty-six states. Michigan, on January 2, was the 16th state to ratify it, and Nebraska, on the 16th of January, brought the vote to the three-fourths majority necessary to pass it. “The rain of tears is over,” Evangelist Billy Sunday told an audience that day in Virginia. “The slums will soon be a memory; we will turn our prisons into factories, our jails into storehouses and corn cribs, our men will walk upright. Now women will smile, children will laugh, hell will be for rent.”


The news about Prohibition, for most Americans, brought with it a certain amount of shudders and sighs, confusion and panic. When must saloons and liquor stores stop selling alcohol? What about ancillary businesses, such as distillers? When would it no longer be legal to drink at home? And what about private clubs? Prohibition was indeed the talk of the nation in mid-January, except in Boston where the focus was not on liquor, but rather on molasses.


On January 15, some Bostonians heard a loud, muffled roar shortly after noon coming from the direction of the waterfront near Commercial Street. Next they felt the ground beneath them trembling. Windows shattered; horses screamed; the sky darkened. A wave of molasses twenty-five feet high and 160 feet wide was moving through the streets of Boston’s industrial north at thirty-five miles per hour, crushing autos, trains, trestles, horses, dogs, rats, and every man, woman, and child who could not outrun its unstoppable assault. Sucking its victims into the smothering folds of its sticky mass, the molasses slammed up against buildings, crashed through alleys, and rolled into Boston harbor.


Without a second of warning, at 12:40 P.M., a tank holding 2.3 million tons of molasses had exploded. It was owned by Purity Distilling Company, a subsidiary of the United States Industrial Alcohol Company, which sold the molasses to rum makers. In just five minutes, the waterfront district was leveled and the streets were waist-deep in molasses. As in all disasters, the body count was uncertain for days. Exactly how many animals died was never known, though the corpses of ten horses and one cat were found. At least 150 people were hospitalized and twenty-one died, including a fireman.


No one knew the cause, and regiments of investigators would be testing theories for many months. One explosives inspector claimed that the tank did not explode. It disintegrated. A structural weakness in combination with the fermentation inside caused the walls to crack and the building to collapse with such force that it sounded like an explosion. The government accused the company of criminal negligence for operating an unsafe, poorly constructed tank that had not been properly maintained. The company countered with one explanation “beyond question”: sabotage by “evilly disposed persons.” The proof, the company said, was that anarchists had attached posters to the fences near the molasses tank. Worse still, scattered throughout the wreckage were little pink slips of paper bearing anti-government messages.


To bolster the notion of sabotage, the company pointed out that on the last day of December bombs in Philadelphia had destroyed the homes of the chief justice of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, the city’s acting superintendent of police, and the president of the Philadelphia Chamber of Commerce. In fact, on New Year’s Day, newspapers nationwide quoted the Philadelphia police chief, who said he and others were certain this was the “start of terrorist plots planned to reach from one end of the country to the other.” By the time both the criminal and civil cases in the great molasses disaster went to trial, there would be more such incidents, which any legal defense team could twist into a conspiracy theory to explain the exploding molasses tank. It was a defense that in other times might have been received publicly as a transparent, far-fetched excuse for disastrous corporate oversight. But in 1919, nothing seemed more plausible than to blame radicals, anarchists, socialists, or at least immigrants, for the madness and the mayhem in the helter-skelter aftermath of war.









CHAPTER 5

The List





On the morning of January 25, as men and women across America read the front pages of the nation’s major newspapers, many were asking the same question. Even top-level officials in the Wilson administration joined the impatient chorus: Who in the world is Archibald Stevenson?


It was the end of a week of testimony in a Senate subcommittee that, since September, had been investigating charges by government officials, including A. Mitchell Palmer—soon to be the attorney general—against the United States Brewers’ Association and the liquor industry for plotting to exert a pro-German influence on the press, the public, and politicians during the war. Headed by Senator Lee S. Overman, a Democrat from North Carolina, the committee had loosely interpreted its mission to mean an extensive, general probe into pro-German activities and propaganda. As such it had become the first congressional investigation of political activities and opinions of American citizens. That the Overman Committee might creep past the boundaries of its mandate was not surprising, considering Overman’s work during the war as a secret informant for the Bureau of Investigation rooting out potentially disloyal individuals nationwide. In his numerous reports, Overman had alleged that Germans controlled all Jewish businesses in the United States and more recently that munitions plants owned by Germans and Austrians were supplying weapons to radicals nationwide.


Toward the end of January, the committee had stepped the furthest away thus far from its initial intent when it entered the wide-open frontier of fear: Bolsheviks in America. To people like Overman, who trafficked in fear and suspicion, it seemed a logical step. Overman claimed to have evidence of collusion between the Germans and the Bolsheviks, which if true would justify his committee’s interest in Bolshevism and would create the necessary bridge between wartime threats to American security and those in the aftermath of war. This of course would keep the fear-mongering spirit alive long after the Armistice.


First, according to Overman, there was the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk in March of 1918 between Russia and Germany, which took Russia out of the war, thus freeing German troops to strengthen their attack against the Allies on the Western Front. Then, in October of 1918, George Creel’s Committee on Public Information had published The German-Bolshevik Conspiracy, a compilation of supposedly genuine Russian documents smuggled out of Russia by Edgar Sisson, who was Creel’s representative in Petrograd (St. Petersburg). The Sisson documents—whose authenticity would eventually be questioned—supposedly proved that Germany and Russia were working together, that Lenin and Leon Trotsky were German agents, and that the Russian Revolution was indeed a German takeover of Russia. The documents purported to show that the Revolution was financed in part by the German Imperial Bank.


Next, there was the issue of labor strikes. As with the conspiracy imagined in Boston after the molasses tank explosion and the concurrent Philadelphia bombings, any confluence of events created the fear of coordinated evil. Thus, it was relatively easy for Overman and others to connect the Bolshevik Revolution in Russia with domestic labor unrest in America, where there was now an average of at least two hundred strikes a month.


And then, adding to the already volatile mix, there was the indefatigable Archibald Stevenson. A New York lawyer who had spent months studying the relationships of pro-German Americans, pacifists, Bolshevists, and radicals, Stevenson carried a card in his wallet embossed with the seal of the War Department and signed by Marlborough Churchill. The card identified him as “Special Agent 650.” Although his exact job was a bit vague, Stevenson worked in a propaganda division of the New York branch of the MID, where he was known for his belief that Bolsheviks were German operatives. This was a notion that had inspired his inflammatory memo in November of 1918 in which he alerted the federal government to a Bolshevik conspiracy to take over the United States. In early January, the Union League Club in New York City, which was then an establishment of wealthy, patriotic dollar-a-year volunteers fighting “disloyalty” much like the American Protective League, appointed Stevenson to head a committee to explore Bolshevism in New York. As a member of the Union League Club, Stevenson had started a new division within it known as the Propaganda League.


On the 22nd and 23rd of January, Stevenson traveled to Washington to attend the Overman Committee hearings, intending to share his views about the link between German sympathizers and radicals in America during the war, between Germans and Bolsheviks in general, and then the final link between Bolsheviks and postwar radicals in postwar America. He was certain, as he testified, that the same individuals who had opposed the war were now to be found in various radical organizations and that Bolshevism was the “gravest menace in the country today.”


On the afternoon of the 23rd, Democratic senator William Henry King of Utah asked Stevenson a series of questions about the wartime activities of radicals who had opposed the war and had protested the enforcement of wartime laws, such as the Selective Service Act. In his answers, Stevenson warned about the “interlocking relation” among German sympathizers, pacifists, and radicals, and he expressed deep concern about university campuses as centers of dangerous propaganda.


“Have you discovered that in many universities there were professors who subscribed to these dangerous and anarchistic sentiments?” asked King.


“A very large number,” Stevenson said.


“And participated in this class of revolutionary and Bolshevist meetings and organizations?” King asked.


“Quite a large number of them, mostly among professors of sociology, economics, and history,” said Stevenson, with a professorial air of certainty.


“It seems to me,” King continued, “that this is a good time for the States and those who control the universities to look into this matter.”


Senator Knute Nelson, a Republican from Minnesota, then added, “I should like to get a list of these professors.”


Stevenson, ever willing to fulfill his perceived duties of being a patriotic American while seeking national recognition for his hard work, responded, “I have a ‘Who’s Who’ here that I have prepared, giving a brief biographic sketch of each.”


Stevenson’s list of nearly two hundred names was submitted to the committee, which during the next twenty-four hours eliminated 140 or so individuals who had ceased any demonstration of antiwar sentiments after April 1917, when the United States declared war on Germany. It was decided also to eliminate excessive biographical data and simply to include the person’s name, title, and names of organizations that had propelled him or her onto the list. The list was then given to clamoring reporters, whose editors certainly saw the front-page value and decided that the source for the list, being a member of the Military Intelligence Division, and hence part of the army, was reliable. What a dazzling, irresistible story it was: a roster of un-American Americans suspiciously engaged during the war and thus important to expose now, especially in light of Stevenson’s warning of the link among Germans, pacifists, and Bolsheviks, and the Bolshevik plot to take over America.


On Saturday morning, January 25, Jane Addams, the esteemed social reformer from Chicago who had founded Hull House settlement house, which served the neighborhood poor and which had, only weeks before, earned her recognition as one of the nation’s most oustanding citizens, saw her name first on the list. Noted next to her name were these credentials: chairman, Woman’s Peace Party; vice chairman, American Neutral Conference Committee; Executive Committee, American Union Against Militarism; Council of Fellowship of Reconciliation; American League to Limit Armaments. Addams was dedicating her life to serving the poor and to bringing about world peace. Wasn’t this also what the president was doing in Europe: trying to establish a world league to end militarism?


Without warning, without a letter from a lawyer or a government agency, without any previous knowledge of the compilation of such a list, sixty-two Americans found their names on the Who’s Who of subversion in America. There were some obvious choices, such as Roger Baldwin, in jail for violating the Selective Service Act; the socialist Eugene Debs, who was awaiting his prison sentence for violating the Espionage Act during a speech in Canton, Ohio, the previous August; Kate Richards O’Hare, a prominent socialist from Kansas and the mother of four children, who was now in prison for violating the Espionage Act; labor activist Elizabeth Gurley Flynn, under indictment for defying the Espionage Act; Scott Nearing, a former University of Pennsylvania professor whose trial was set for February for violating the Espionage Act by publishing an antiwar pamphlet entitled The Great Madness; Oswald Garrison Villard, the bold editor of The Nation magazine; and Charles Beard, the esteemed historian who, after teaching at Columbia University for thirteen years, resigned in 1917 to protest the dismissals of two professors for their pacifism.


There were others, including the well-known New York sociologist, nurse, and teacher Lillian Wald, who had founded the Henry Street Settlement and whom the New York Times would later name as one of the greatest living American women, Frederic C. Howe, commissioner of immigration at Ellis Island in New York, and the noted reformer David Starr Jordan, then chancellor of Stanford University. The former dean of Columbia University’s law school was named, as were professors from other departments at Columbia and from Brown, Princeton, Harvard, Tufts, and Cornell universities, Swarthmore College, the University of Chicago, Haverford College, the University of Texas, Wellesley College, the University of California at Berkeley, Boston School of Theology, and the University of Colorado. Rabbis and ministers from New York, Seattle, and Chicago were included, and lawyers from everywhere.


The initial shock of those named on the front page of the New York Times quickly gave way to indignation, rage, and action. Charles Beard fired off a sizzling letter to Senator Overman in which he said “I am not and never have been” a pacifist and explained that he had not even belonged to “Mr. Wilson’s sweet neutrality band,” in 1916. Lindsay T. Damon, a professor at Brown, was especially piqued. How could he be accused of being unpatriotic and disloyal if he had taken a leave of absence from Brown to serve his government and indeed was working for the War Department? Four days after finding his name on the list, Damon sought a reprieve and a public apology from the committee, which responded by telling him that they did not consider him to be “un-American” and that they would enter that opinion onto the record. In his appearance before the committee, Damon was irate. “Can I make myself clear? I am boiling with indignation that Mr. Stevenson ever used my name at all.” However, the committee refused to take his name off the list or clear him publicly.


Another professor, Frederick A. Bushee from the University of Colorado, sent a letter to the committee demanding a retraction of his name and professing his strong support of the war from the beginning. He was as radical as Woodrow Wilson himself, Bushee said, and the Senate had “no business to permit names to be printed as suspicious when they know no more about them than they do about me.”


Gilbert E. Roe, a New York attorney who worked with the National Civil Liberties Bureau, had a different approach. He sent a strident letter to committee chairman Overman, attacking Stevenson for having ulterior motives in the selections on his list—a vengeful, calculated list, thought Roe. A close look at the names, wrote Roe, showed that some were indeed steadfast pacifists but then again many were not. Some had been earnest advocates of war with Germany even before Wilson was; some had opposed going to war with Germany at the time President Wilson did; and some had changed their minds when the president did. Attitude toward the war could not have been the reason for Stevenson’s choices. What most of the people had in common, Roe suggested, was that they had spoken out or written articles exposing and opposing the tactics of the shadow war “whereby the homes of citizens have been unlawfully invaded and their persons and property seized without warrant or pretext of legal authority. The emissaries of the Military Intelligence Department again and again have invaded homes, arrested persons, held them incommunicado for days, seized and carried away property,” wrote Roe. Who was Stevenson, anyhow? Roe asked, as if he had played out all the possible scenarios and now with a heavy sigh was throwing up his hands and asking the obvious question. What right did this man have to judge the activities of any private citizen and then, worse still, publicize what he suspected?


Secretary of War Newton Baker wanted to know the same thing. The list was an embarrassment to the military and to the MID, and he seemed as agitated as those named. The day after the release of the list, Baker sent a scalding order to the New York Bureau of the MID to shut down, permanently. He instructed all MID personnel never again to share information with senators, congressmen, congressional committees, and persons in official or private life in Washington or anywhere else, without obtaining official, written, signed permission from Baker himself. No MID agent could ever again testify before the Overman Committee or any other congressional hearing. He told the press in a written statement that the list included “names of people of great distinction, exalted purity of purpose, and lifelong devotion to the highest interest of America and of mankind.” And he told the media that to his knowledge Stevenson had never been employed by or was an officer of the Military Intelligence Division.


Offended and incensed, Senator Overman leaked to a New York Times reporter a copy of a letter dated December 17, 1918, from the MID in New York to the director of military intelligence in Washington. The letter suggested that “Archibald Ewing Stevenson of the propaganda section” would be an informed witness for the investigation of German propaganda and its link to radicals in the United States. A copy of the letter was sent on to the Overman Committee. “This committee never heard of Mr. Stevenson until his name was called to the attention of the committee” by the War Department itself in the December memo, Overman told the Times. He then chastised Secretary of War Baker for not knowing his own staff and for being out of touch with the intelligence division of his own department.


Baker did not respond specifically to Overman. Instead, he sent out more orders, calling off the civilian watchdogs and ending the MID’s use of volunteer spies, such as the American Protective Leaguers, who were to shut down operations officially on February 1.


But while Baker was trying to muzzle the MID and its apostles of surveillance, two things happened that would soon reverse his policy and remobilize the MID. First, in Seattle, more than 35,000 shipyard workers went on strike on January 21 and the city’s Central Labor Council announced that all unions in Seattle would join in a general strike on February 6 to show solidarity. To many it meant that Bolshevists had struck the Pacific Northwest like lightning bolts, soon to cause the nation to burst into the flames of revolution. Then, Overman asked the Senate to officially extend and expand his congressional investigation beyond German propaganda to Bolshevik propaganda and its promulgators in the United States. As citizens of Seattle were stocking up on supplies and preparing for a long siege and businessmen were purchasing guns and taking out riot insurance, the U.S. Senate approved Overman’s request. The hearings were scheduled to begin on February 11 and to last until March 20. To Overman’s way of thinking, if the American public was not convinced by now that Bolshevism was the new enemy, the Seattle strike and the testimony in the upcoming hearings would complete the job.


Ironically, in the midst of the Stevenson mayhem, Baker’s loud repudiation of the list and the MID’s black eye may have helped one American—one socialist American, in fact. Carl Sandburg. The government’s embarrassment may indeed have hastened Sandburg’s settlement with federal agents and lawyers, which until the appearance of the list had seemed intransigent. Sandburg not only wanted his confiscated research materials back so that he could write about Russia, but he also was trying to avoid federal charges for bringing money into the country from allegedly suspicious sources. On the one hand, he held an honorable discharge from the U.S. Army from 1898 and he had witnesses, including Clarence Darrow, who would attest to his pro-Allies stance going into the war. On the other, Sandburg’s great journalistic source in Stockholm, the former Chicago teacher known as Mike Berg, who had introduced himself to Sandburg as Michael Borodin, was actually named Mikhail Markovich Gruzenberg. And that was a problem. Like many immigrants, labor organizers, and socialists in America who hastened to assist Russia’s new “workers’ state,” in the fall of 1918, Borodin had been working for Lenin in Stockholm with the mission to send information about the Revolution to America. The MID knew about Borodin. However, by late January the government did not need another scandal involving a highly respected American. What they wanted was to examine and censor Sandburg’s materials.


On January 28, Sandburg signed an affidavit that relinquished “all of the books, pamphlets, newspaper clippings, magazines, manuscripts, and other similar material” that he had brought into the country to the U.S. attorney for the Southern District of New York, the MID, and the Bureau of Investigation, giving them permission to allow any other government agency free access. The materials would be returned to Sandburg if the U.S. attorney could establish that they did not violate the Espionage Act or any other law. It would take three months—as well as appeals from George Creel and Secretary of War Newton Baker—for Sandburg to retrieve his papers. Nothing was said about the two drafts of $5,000 Sandburg carried to America to deliver to the head of the Finnish Information Bureau and there was no subsequent record of their fate. In the weeks ahead, Sandburg would deliver the 400 kronor to Borodin’s wife in Chicago.
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